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Savage Season

Season 1
Episode Number: 1
Season Episode: 1

Originally aired: Wednesday March 2, 2016
Writer: Nick Damici, Jim Mickle
Director: Jim Mickle
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Jimmi Simpson (Soldier), Bill Sage (Howard), Christina Hen-
dricks (Trudy Fawst), Pollyanna McIntosh (Angel)

Guest Stars: Neil Sandilands (Paco), Jeff Pope (Chub), Henry G. Sanders (Uncle
Chester), Trace Masters (Little Hap), Ron Roggé (Bud), Trace Cheramie
(Softboy McCall), Jason Kirkpatrick (Walking Boss), Mike Ortiz (In-
mate), Garrett Kruithof (White Cop), Gus Williams (Tank), Charlie Tal-
bert (Officer Simpson), Artrial Clark (Scumbag Neighbor #1), Charles
Barber (Police Officer), Wes Cannon (Guard), Scott Chauvin (Correc-
tions Officer Aguilar), Micheal K. Douglas (Prisoner), James W. Ev-
ermore (Rough Customer), Mino Mackic (Prisoner), Mike R. Moreau
(Police Officer), William Schaff (Police Officer), Kari Shemwell (Trudy
Double), John Teal Jr. (Police Officer)

Summary: After lifelong best friends Hap and Leonard lose their jobs, a seduc-
tive figure from Hap’s past resurfaces with a shadowy plan to score
some major cash. Meanwhile, a menacing pair descends upon the
duo’s hometown.

In 1968 Texas, a pair of wounded bank
robbers tear down a highway in a car
full of cash, police cars in hot pursuit.
The getaway driver steers off the road and
manages to shake the cops, but acciden-
tally plunges the car into a river. One of
the robbers manages to escape the sink-
ing vehicle before succumbing to his in-
juries and passing out as cops close in.

Twenty years later, Hap Collins and
Leonard Pine trade friendly banter while
working as rose-field pickers before their

boss informs them they’ve been laid off. After Leonard blows off steam uprooting a few rose-
bushes, the two pals go grocery shopping, stretching their limited funds and food stamps as far
as possible.

Hap and Leonard’s skeet shooting session is interrupted by the unexpected arrival of Trudy
Fawst, Hap’s ex-wife. Leonard warns Hap not to let her break his heart again before she greets
the men. Hap invites Trudy inside for coffee and reminds her that she ”gave [Leonard] hell” for
enlisting to fight in Vietnam. Trudy seduces Hap and they go to bed together.

The next morning, Hap and Leonard spar with boxing gloves until Leonard lays Hap out with
a roundhouse kick. Hap reveals to Leonard that Trudy has asked him to join her in recovering
the lost money from the river seen in the opening flashback. Trudy is unhappy that Hap brought
Leonard in on the deal without asking her, but explains the plan: her most recent husband,
Howard, was incarcerated for environmental terrorism. While there, Howard met the surviving
bank robber from the flashback, who told him the money’s approximate location and offered to
split it fifty-fifty. The robber was killed in prison.
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A police officer drops off Leonard’s cantankerous and homophobic Uncle Chester, who calls
Leonard an offensive slur on the ride home. When Hap has Chester alone for a moment, he warns
the old man not to denigrate his nephew’s sexuality again.

When Chester finds his home vandalized by young neighbors, Leonard beats the largest mem-
ber of the group, warning the men to leave Chester be.

Hap and Leonard stock up on weaponry and speculate about Howard’s motives.
Hap, Leonard and Trudy drive to the compound where Howard is squatting. They’re greeted

by Howard’s henchman Chub.
Trudy introduces Howard to the guys and explains Leonard’s presence (as well as his potential

value as a trained military diver). Howard is friendly but both men are put off by their host’s
hippy-dippy, overly familiar manner. The team’s final member, the intimidating, heavily-scarred
Paco, introduces himself as well.

Howard bores Hap and Leonard with a lecture on the evils of the capitalist establishment,
trying to talk Hap into chipping his share into an unspecified idealistic venture. Hap declines
and the exchange gets heated, with Hap mockingly holding the unspoken fact of the previous
night’s intimacy with Trudy over Howard’s head. Howard throws Hap for a loop by revealing
that Trudy already told him about the encounter and that he himself doesn’t believe in sexual
possessiveness. A disgusted Hap twists Howard’s arm behind his back violently til Howard cries
uncle.

Hap drives out to a roadside in the middle of the night and recalls a childhood memory: his
father pulling over to help an African-American motorist stranded with car problems in heavy
rain.

A policeman approaches a sporty car parked inexplicably in an empty lot, blasting disco
music. The passenger, Soldier, unnerves the officer from the get-go, and when the sounds of
muffled struggling come from the trunk the cop orders Soldier out of the car at gunpoint. Soldier’s
partner, Angel, sneaks up behind the cop and slits his throat. As the officer bleeds out, Soldier
tells him, ”I’m looking for a man named Paco.”
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The Bottoms

Season 1
Episode Number: 2
Season Episode: 2

Originally aired: Wednesday March 9, 2016
Writer: Nick Damici, Jim Mickle
Director: Jim Mickle
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Jimmi Simpson (Soldier), Bill Sage (Howard), Christina Hen-
dricks (Trudy Fawst), Pollyanna McIntosh (Angel)

Guest Stars: Enrique Murciano (Raoul), Neil Sandilands (Paco), Jeff Pope (Chub),
Henry G. Sanders (Uncle Chester), Trace Masters (Little Hap), Ron
Roggé (Bud), Kaden Washington Lewis (Little Leonard), Jay Potter
(Prescott Jones), Kylen Davis (Henry), Bryant Tardy (Blue), James W.
Evermore (Rough Customer), Charlie Talbert (Officer Simpson), Lisa
Comeaux (Shopper), Micheal K. Douglas (Scumbag Neighbor), Barry
Fisher (Shopper), Sally Jubb (Shopper), John Teal Jr. (Police Officer),
Shirley Tregre (Cashier), Jesse Yarborough (Marvel Creek Cop)

Summary: Enticed by Trudy, Hap and Leonard begin their search for the lost
loot with new compatriots Howard, Chub and Paco. Leonard receives
distressing news about his Uncle Chester.

A pair of kids out hunting scare each
other with ghost stories before stumbling
upon the mutilated corpse of the police-
man Angel killed behind some trash cans.
The boys run off, screaming.

Hap wakes Leonard at the crack of
dawn, hoping to slip out to the river and
track down the sunken car before the
rest of the crew gets up. Howard, Paco
and Chub surprise the pair by returning
from an early morning jog and Howard in-
sists on his men accompanying Hap and

Leonard to the river.
A traveling bible salesman shows up at Howard’s compound, entering through the gates Hap

accidentally left open. Paco throws him out.
The team heads out toward the river, but Paco turns Howard’s van around to find an alternate

route after spotting a police roadblock ahead. Chub explains that Paco is a fugitive, wanted for
his involvement in ”the Mechanics”, an unusually violent ecoterrorist group.

When they reach the riverside, Hap and Paco and Leonard and Chub split up into pairs (at
Paco’s insistence) to search for possible routes to the water. Leonard abandons Chub after getting
fed up with the man’s ham-fisted comments on Leonard’s race and sexual orientation.

Meanwhile, Hap tells Paco he knows he wasn’t just any old terrorist, but rather the famed
leader of the Mechanics, thought to have been killed during a bombing. Leonard catches up with
the two and the group doubles back to help Chub out of a pit of mud, laughing at the mess.

Trudy encounters Soldier and Angel while working at the diner. Soldier picks up a glass of
water for Trudy after a rude patron intentionally knocks it to the floor, but unnerves her with his
unnaturally cheery demeanor.

Having dinner back at the compound, Howard complains about Hap and company’s failure
to find the bridge that marks the cash’s location. Trudy defends Hap, pointing out that he’s only
been searching for a day.
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Leonard’s Uncle Chester suffers a heart attack at home alone.
Hap reveals to Leonard what Howard’s sources didn’t realize: the bridge isn’t over the river

itself, but rather at a nearby tributary creek. The pair get up even earlier the next morning
and set out for the creek alone. After hacking their way through the overgrown woods, Hap and
Leonard find the bridge, but discover that whatever body of water once ran underneath has long
since completely dried up.

Leonard gets word of Chester’s condition and heads back home. Hap and Trudy bid him good
luck. Leonard visits Chester in the hospital but finds him unconscious. He flashes back to a
childhood memory: Chester comforting him as a boy with the body of Leonard’s father being
wheeled off in a body bag. Returning home, Leonard is joined by a sympathetic ex-boyfriend who
keeps him company for the night.

Meanwhile, Trudy tells Hap she’s a few steps ahead of both him and Howard on the sunken
car, having realized that a decade-past flood shifted the course of the river and its tributary and
pinpointing the treasure’s possible location. The two exes head out on their own in the middle of
the night and search the water from a boat.

Howard wakes up, looking for Trudy, and discovers the revised map.
Hap catches a license plate on a fishing hook, implying that the car is just below. As Trudy

and Hap celebrate, their boat is attacked by a large alligator. The pair panic, swim for the shore
and run for their lives. They make passionate love in the woods once the chase is over.
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The Dive

Season 1
Episode Number: 3
Season Episode: 3

Originally aired: Wednesday March 16, 2016
Writer: E.L. Katz
Director: Nick Gomez
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Jimmi Simpson (Soldier), Bill Sage (Howard), Christina Hen-
dricks (Trudy Fawst), Pollyanna McIntosh (Angel)

Guest Stars: Enrique Murciano (Raoul), Neil Sandilands (Paco), Jeff Pope (Chub),
John McConnell (Beau Otis), Florence Young (Kay), Jay Potter (Prescott
Jones), Don Yesso (Recruitment Officer), Tony Bentley (Chief of Po-
lice), Taylor Roppolo (Waitress), John L. Armijo (State Trooper), Mike
R. Moreau (Texas State Trooper / Precision Driver), John Teal Jr. (Po-
lice Officer)

Summary: As the group closes in on the stolen money, Hap, Leonard and Trudy
revisit their pasts. Loyalties are tested within the gang during a fateful
gathering at Leonard’s house.

In a flashback to the Vietnam era, a
younger Trudy watches Hap open the in-
duction letter drafting him into the mili-
tary and asks him what it is.

In the present, Howard, Paco and
Chub discover Hap and Trudy sleeping
on the riverbank and wonder aloud if
the pair planned to recover the money
alone. When the two wake, Howard bran-
dishes the fished-up license plate and
asks where the sunken car is.

Back in town, Leonard reluctantly ac-
cepts the care and cooking of his ex, Raoul.

Meanwhile Howard tries to sell Hap on his plan to use the cash as start-up money to fund an
activist group. When Trudy appeals to his humanitarianism, Hap seems to consider the idea.

After they argue, Raoul tells Leonard that he cared for Chester while Leonard was away and
discovered that the old man was subsisting on cat food.

Hap calls Leonard to tell him they need him for his diving abilities... and his guns, in case of
more gator encounters.

Hap and Trudy briefly flirt, reminiscing over the previous night, before Leonard shows up.
Hap and Leonard take off for the river. On the way, Leonard lectures an obviously nostalgic

Hap on the foolishness of potentially reawakening his youthful idealism. Hap remembers meeting
with a recruitment officer who warned him he’d end up in prison if he refused to serve, move to
Canada, or become a conscientious objector.

The guys find their way impeded by a police roadblock. Hap places a call reporting suspicious
characters in a nearby lot and the cops clear out to investigate, opening the path.

An apparently single woman returns to her home and cats to find Angel and Soldier lying in
wait. Angel beats the woman to death with her telephone while Soldier explains that the pair just
needed a place to hide out... and that Angel, whom he calls his girlfriend, ”just loves kitties.”
Soldier and Angel make out over their victim’s corpse.
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Leonard dives while Hap stands guard with a rifle in a boat. After Leonard resurfaces from an
unsuccessful attempt, Hap explains his interest in Howard’s ideas and then makes a dive of his
own.

Under water, Hap seems to hallucinate yellow birds flying by as he swims. The less experi-
enced diver is so startled when he discovers a corpse inside the car at the river bottom that he
inhales water. Up on the surface, Leonard grows antsy as Hap seems to take too long to emerge.
When a gator skims the surface Leonard panics, readying his gun and shouting for Hap.

Unconscious, Hap flashes back to Trudy encouraging him to make a statement by going to
prison for his beliefs and promising to publicize his sacrifice.

Leonard rescues Hap, who reveals he found the car. Back at the compound the gang celebrate
and, seeing that Angel and Soldier’s latest murder will drawing even more police attention to the
area within the day, decide to go back out for the money that night.

Several members of the gang dive and eventually Leonard finds the lockbox. Returning home,
they find that the bible salesman Paco turned away has tipped off the police about their presence
and the compound is surrounded by cops. Hap volunteers Leonard’s house as a temporary hide-
out much to his partner’s chagrin.

The gang celebrates more by sharing some joints as Paco and Howard crowbar the boxes
open. Hap flashes back once again to his declaration of intent to refuse to serve and resulting
imprisonment.

After indulging in a few puffs of a joint, Hap tells Trudy he’s decided he doesn’t want to join
the cause after all.

Paco and Howard discover that one of the boxes has leaked, ruining its contents and cutting
their haul in half.

Paco, Howard and Chub confront Hap and Leonard at gunpoint and tell them they’re keeping
all the cash.
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Trudy

Season 1
Episode Number: 4
Season Episode: 4

Originally aired: Wednesday March 23, 2016
Writer: Nick Damici, Jim Mickle
Director: Nick Gomez
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Jimmi Simpson (Soldier), Bill Sage (Howard), Christina Hen-
dricks (Trudy Fawst), Pollyanna McIntosh (Angel)

Guest Stars: Neil Sandilands (Paco), Jeff Pope (Chub), Robert Walker Branchaud
(Cop 1), Michael Papajohn (Cop 2), Wes Cannon (Guard)

Summary: After counting the money, the gang discovers there’s not enough for
their cause. Paco suggests buying cocaine in bulk to flip so they set off
to meet Paco’s drug dealer, which leads them to an abandoned office
where an unexpected duo await.

In a flashback, Trudy tries to pen a let-
ter to Hap in prison but gives up. She
attempts to free the pet bird the couple
once shared, but when it declines to fly
out the window she drowns the little pet
in the sink.

In the present day, Howard apologizes
to Hap and Leonard for the deception,
explaining that he and the others really
didn’t plan on cutting the pair out but
discussed the option as a back-up plan in
case the haul was smaller than expected.

Hap asks if Trudy knew about the plan and she confirms that she did it for the cause.
Howard and his men force Hap to dig a hole at gunpoint and buries the money. While Chub

guards Hap and Leonard, he lets slip that the gang plans to spend the money on a large quantity
of cocaine. Leonard’s outraged reaction draws the rest of the gang in, at which point they defend
their plan . Hap and Leonard mock the gang’s naivety until Howard gets frustrated enough to
duct-tape the two together and leave them outside.

Trudy confides to Howard that she has started second-guessing the plan. Howard reassures
her that they should stay the course.

A visibly upset Chub tries to apologize to Hap and Leonard but Leonard rejects his sympathy
and tells him that his collaborators don’t respect him. Hap asks Chub if he and Leonard are
going to be killed. Chub claims that Howard said they were to be released the next day, but Paco
ends the conversation by telling Chub to beat it.

In a flashback Trudy finally writes to Hap in prison, telling him she’s moved to San Francisco
and joined an activist group, praising him for his sacrifice and telling him she still loves him.
Attached to the letter: divorce papers.

Trudy visits Hap outside and defends her deception, pointing out that she gave him every
possible opportunity to join the cause instead of making himself and Leonard its enemies.

The next morning, Hap and Leonard wake to find Chub snoring behind his shotgun. The two
sneak off the porch, still duct-taped together in a pair of lawnchairs, but Paco quickly foils the
escape, sitting guard on the lawn nearby.

The gang takes Hap and Leonard along on their big coke buy, no longer trusting Chub to
watch over them on his own. On the way, Trudy and Howard reveal that they’ve only brought
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$5,000 as a ”deposit”, since they don’t yet know if they can trust the dealers. A horrified Paco
insists they go back for the full amount, pointing out that the funny business could lead to
violence. Trudy and Howard stay firm and the gang continues on to an abandoned warehouse.

Angel meets the gang out front and welcomes them inside, where Soldier is waiting. Soldier
puts the gang on edge with his psychotic demeanor and purposely antagonizes Chub when
he defends Leonard against Soldier’s casual racism. As Chub gets agitated and the scene gets
increasingly tense, Paco surprises everyone by blowing Chub’s brains out. Paco reveals that there
was no actual drug deal planned: he was working with Soldier from the beginning, planning to
rip Howard, Trudy and Chub off. Soldier threatens to kill the whole gang unless they take him
to the money and shoots Howard in the foot on a whim to prove he’s serious.

On the ride over, Soldier harasses Trudy, interrogating her as to which member of the gang
she’s sleeping with. Paco tells Soldier she’s been with both Hap and Howard and that Leonard
is gay. Soldier seems delighted by all the information and continues to harass Trudy until she
snaps at him. Soldier gets deadly serious and sticks the gun in Trudy’s face, but she refuses to
plead or cower. Howard tries to convince Soldier not to hurt her. A police roadblock appears up
ahead.

Soldier seems to be trying to pass Howard’s obvious injury off as an accident and tell the cops
the gang’s on the way to the hospital. When an officer asks Paco for his license and registration,
however, Soldier, Paco and Angel ruthlessly execute the police and drive on.
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War

Season 1
Episode Number: 5
Season Episode: 5

Originally aired: Wednesday March 30, 2016
Writer: Nick Damici
Director: Jim Mickle
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Jimmi Simpson (Soldier), Bill Sage (Howard), Christina Hen-
dricks (Trudy Fawst), Pollyanna McIntosh (Angel)

Guest Stars: Neil Sandilands (Paco), Matty Ferraro (Roy), Michael Krikorian
(Shucker), Ron Roggé (Bud), Trace Masters (Little Hap), John Henry
(Leonard’s Dad)

Summary: Soldier and Angel force Leonard to dig up the money but a surprise
awaits them; Trudy stands her ground while Hap and Leonard seek a
way out.

In a flashback, a young Hap attends an
amateur minstrel show with his father
before coming across the stranded black
motorist stuck in the rain (shown in a
previous flashback). Hap’s father reluc-
tantly gets out to help get the other man’s
car running. A passing driver swerves
dangerously toward the side of the road
while Hap watches, with his dad tinker-
ing under the stalled car.

Back at Leonard’s, Soldier orders the
gang out of Howard’s van. Trudy tries to

appeal to Paco’s loyalty but he immediately reveals the money’s location. Soldier makes Leonard
dig the box up. Everyone is surprised to find it empty. Soldier threatens Howard, demanding to
know what happened to the cash. Eventually Trudy can’t take it any more and admits she moved
the money.

Soldier takes Trudy aside and offers her the $5,000 ”deposit” back along with her freedom in
exchange for the money’s location. She scatters the money to the wind in defiance. Soldier asks
Angel to make him some breakfast before he starts torturing Trudy.

Soldier mocks the group’s idealism and tries to demand the information from Trudy verbally
once more. She remains defiant despite Hap and Howard’s pleas, even as Soldier and Angel
prepare to nail one of her hands to Leonard’s kitchen table.

Soldier drives a nail through Trudy’s hand. She screams. Hap leaps up but is quickly stopped
by Leonard. Trudy sobs but continues to refuse to talk.

Hap warns Soldier that torturing her won’t work. Howard agrees, and suggests torturing Hap
instead. Soldier gives Howard the hammer and tells him to hit Hap in the mouth with it as hard
as he can. With Trudy continuing to refuse to talk, Howard reluctantly takes a swing. Leonard
catches Howard’s arm and stops the blow.

Hap screams out that he knows where the money is, having spotted a clue on Trudy the
previous night. Hap assures Soldier he can lead him to the cash and, convinced, Soldier executes
Howard.

Hap and Leonard lead Soldier and Angel to Leonard’s dog pens, Hap claiming he spotted the
animals’ crap on Trudy’s shoes. Hap lets a dog out, ostensibly to start digging up the pen, and
Leonard sics the well-trained attack dog on Soldier before striking Angel with a shovel. The pair
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flee into the woods, still handcuffed together, as Soldier and Angel fire shots after them. Each
takes a bullet in the side but they don’t slow down.

Meanwhile, Trudy manages to loosen the nail from the table through excruciating effort and
surprises Paco standing guard. She drives the nail, still stuck in her hand, into Paco’s remaining
eye, blinding him, and the two fight in Leonard’s kitchen. Trudy takes a few hits but ultimately
forces Paco onto the gas range and lights the stove.

Out in the woods, Hap and Leonard hear Trudy scream. Hap insists on going back and an
extremely reluctant Leonard consents.

Paco runs out of Leonard’s house blind and engulfed in flames. Soldier shoots Paco dead.
Angel breaks into the house through a window, surprising Trudy, and starts dragging her

outside. Hap and Leonard show up at the last second and shoots Angel in the neck with Paco’s
crossbow. Soldier sends a spray of bullets through the window and hits Leonard in the stomach.

Hap removes the nail from Trudy’s hand.
Outside, Soldier removes the arrow from Angel’s neck and comforts her with visions of their

future living off the loot in Acapulco.
Inside all realize that they need to get the gut-shot Leonard to the hospital as soon as possible.

With the phone lines cut by Soldier and Hap chained to Leonard, Trudy is the only hope of getting
help.

Trudy recovers the keys from Howard’s body and makes it to the van, Soldier and Angel
nowhere to be found. As soon as she starts the van, Soldier emerges and starts firing at it. Trudy
speeds away from the house and manages to escape as Soldier screams in rage.
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Eskimos

Season 1
Episode Number: 6
Season Episode: 6

Originally aired: Wednesday April 6, 2016
Writer: Jim Mickle
Director: Jim Mickle
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Jimmi Simpson (Soldier), Bill Sage (Howard), Christina Hen-
dricks (Trudy Fawst), Pollyanna McIntosh (Angel)

Guest Stars: Enrique Murciano (Raoul), Henry G. Sanders (Uncle Chester), Ron
Roggé (Bud), Trace Masters (Little Hap), Kaden Washington Lewis (Lit-
tle Leonard), John McConnell (Young Beau Otis), Jonathan Tabler (Se-
nior Looking Officer), Michael Francis Horn (Lyle Otis), Carey Bowers
(Minister), Terence Rosemore (Jack Divit), Bill Martin Williams (Sher-
iff), Adam Aalderks (Campaign Guy), Kari Shemwell (Trudy Double)

Summary: Hap and Leonard must fend for themselves; Trudy makes a confession
to Hap; Hap makes a discovery.

Hap looks through the wreckage of
Leonard’s house and commiserates with
one of Leonard’s dogs, saying he misses
Leonard too.

Hap threatens a canvasser off of
Leonard’s property when the young man
tries to plant some signs for local politi-
cian Beau Otis’s campaign.

Flashing back to the end of last
episode, Soldier taunts Hap and Leonard,
still in siege inside the house. He kills
some of Leonard’s dogs, which briefly re-

duces Leonard to tears, then tests the mens’ faith by theorizing that Trudy’s probably on her way
to Mexico, having betrayed Hap once again.

While Soldier distracts Hap and Leonard with a speech about Eskimos, Angel sneaks back
inside, throat bandaged, and tries to kill Hap and Leonard with an axe. Though she comes close,
Leonard ultimately manages to snap her neck. As Hap and Leonard celebrates, Soldier shoots
Hap in the shoulder.

Soldier enters the house, kisses Angel’s dead body while drawing a second handgun. He
corners Hap and Leonard in the workshop, but at the last second all hear a car speeding toward
the house. Soldier turns in the vehicle’s direction, firing wildly, but Trudy crashes through the
wall in the van and hits Soldier, seriously injuring the criminal.

Trudy reveals that she, too, has been shot in the shoulder region. Hap levels a gun at Soldier
but ultimately decides not to kill him. As Soldier mocks Hap’s reticence, Trudy pulls a gun of her
own and shoots Soldier dead.

Hap and Trudy help Leonard into the van and the three hit the road. On the way, Trudy
tearfully confesses that she killed their pet bird, hoping to exorcise his haunting presence, but
that it didn’t work and that she still loves him. Looking back, Trudy finds Hap and Leonard both
out cold. Shortly thereafter she slips into unconsciousness herself, from exhaustion or blood
loss, and the van gently drifts off the road into the woods.

Some time after that, Hap half-awakens in a hospital bed to a vision of Trudy, looking angelic
in a crown of flowers and a white dress. She kisses him and bids him goodbye before leaving the
hospital with another man, also in wedding-wear, whose face is not shown.
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Revisiting his childhood flashback once more, a young Hap watches a driver crash into the
car his father is working on in the rainstorm and mortally injure his dad. Hap races out to see
what’s happened. In the backseat of the stranded motorist’s car, a young Leonard looks out in
horror and meets Hap’s eyes.

In the present, Hap watches over Leonard as he wakes for the first time in days. Hap tells
Leonard that Trudy disappeared and he didn’t find the money.

FBI agents question Hap about the carnage and ask him to give them a call if he hears
anything that might lead to the money. Hap plays it cool and agrees.

Back at Leonard’s, Hap searches every nook and cranny. After discovering some shreds of
cash in Leonard’s surviving dog’s droppings, Hap finds the money hidden in a bag of dog food
and contemplates the FBI agent’s business card.

Hap divides the cash, hiding half of it inside one of Leonard’s country records (a box set) and
mailing the other half to a children’s charity in Trudy’s name.

Hap visits Leonard again but finds his friend asleep with Raoul watching over him. Raoul tells
Hap to leave Leonard alone for a while for the sake of Leonard’s health. Hap agrees and asks
Raoul to give Leonard the box set.

Continuing Hap’s childhood flashback, police let the young driver who caused the accident
off because of his powerful father’s local influence. The boy’s name: Beau Otis. The young Hap
brings the young Leonard comic books and candy, gifted from sympathetic cops, to share.

In the present, Leonard surprises Hap by showing up at his house. Leonard thanks Hap for
the ”records” and Hap reveals that he’s working the rose fields once again.

Leonard tells Hap his uncle has died and asks him to accompany him to the funeral. As the
pair walk away from the coffin, Leonard tells Hap he’s the only family he’s got left.

Hap and Leonard visit Leonard’s uncle’s apartment and find it stuffed with the late hoarder’s
possessions. They decide to spend the night and go over Uncle Chester’s property in the morning.
The two look forward to ”no more drama for a while.”

As Hap and Leonard fall asleep, we sink down beneath Chester’s floorboards to reveal a
human skeleton sprawled on the ground in the basement.
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Mucho Mojo

Season 2
Episode Number: 7
Season Episode: 1

Originally aired: Thursday March 16, 2017
Writer: Nick Damici, Jim Mickle
Director: Maurice Marable
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Tiffany Mack (Florida Grange), Irma P. Hall (MeMaw), Brian
Dennehy (Sheriff Valentine Otis), John ”Spud” McConnell (Judge Beau
Otis), Dohn Norwood (Reverend James Fitzgerald), Kelvin Brown (TJ),
Cranston Johnson (Detective Marvin Hanson)

Guest Stars: Alicia Beshears (Carnival Teen), Deja Dee (Miriam), Evan Gamble
(Sneed), Douglas M. Griffin (Charlie Blank), Kandace Howard (Carni-
val Goer), Sedale Threatt Jr. (Melton), Olaniyan Thurmon (Ivan), Dolan
Wilson (Fernie Taint), Emelita T. Gonzalez (Carnival Goer), William
Cowboy Reed (Sneeds Partner)

Summary: Hap and Leonard find themselves under investigation for a crime they
didn’t commit, and their sharp new lawyer Florida Grange may be their
only chance to set things right.

A man dumps a boy’s body into a lake.
One year later, a man fishes out the boy’s
skeleton.

Hap retrieves Trudy Fawst’s ashes
from a crematorium. He expresses his
sadness with Fernie at work.

At Uncle Chester’s house, where
Leonard now lives, Leonard sees his
neighbor, Melton, urinating on his rose
bush. He punches Melton and urinates
on him. MeMaw, the neighborhood ma-
triarch, laughs at the scuffle from her
porch.

Back inside, a floorboard buckles under Leonard’s weight. Leonard peers through the hole in
the floor and discovers the boy’s skeleton.

Leonard calls Hap over to his house and shows him the body. They crawl under the house to
investigate. Leonard picks up the boy’s red sneaker and sees the letters ”B.B.” written in marker.
Hap urges Leonard to report the dead body to police. Leonard refuses.

A boy named Ivan breaks into Hap’s car and steals Trudy’s ashes. Hap chases Ivan through
the neighborhood. Ivan tosses the box into a passing garbage truck. Leonard chases the garbage
truck down and retrieves the ashes.

Officer Sneed nabs Ivan but Hap decides to let Ivan go. Leonard reluctantly tells Sneed about
the dead body.

That night, police swarm Leonard’s house and remove the body. Hap and Leonard watch the
police activity from MeMaw’s porch across the street. Sheriff Valentine Otis arrives on the scene
and speaks with Detective Charlie Blank. Detective Blank asks Hap and Leonard to come to the
station.

Down the street, a man watches watches from a van then drives to a remote shack. Inside are
newspaper clippings of missing kids, including that of a 12-year-old boy.

Sheriff Valentine watches as police photograph the body at the station.
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Detective Marvin Hanson interrogates Leonard about Uncle Chester while Detective Blank
questions Hap in a separate room. Detective Hanson tells Leonard that Chester came to the
station more than once to talk about missing kids and possibly a child murder. He says Chester
talked about solving the mystery with his ”associate.”

Hap and Leonard ask Detective Blank and Detective Hanson about the boy’s shoes. The de-
tectives tell them that police did not find shoes at the crime scene and that the body did not have
any feet. Leonard’s lawyer, Florida Grange, arrives. Hap is immediately interested in her.

Hap, Leonard and Florida order food at a restaurant. Florida tells Leonard that the cops will
probably pin the murder on Uncle Chester and leave Leonard alone, as long as Leonard stays
out of trouble.

Hap and Leonard spend the night at MeMaw’s house. They meet her grandson, TJ. Leonard
vows to find out if Uncle Chester is innocent.

Leonard and Hap eat breakfast with MeMaw and her other grandson, Reverend James Fitzger-
ald, a pastor. Leonard and Rev. Fitzgerald have a tense discussion about homosexuality in the
Bible.

Leonard returns home and finds Ivan staggering down his stairs. Ivan collapses.
At the hospital, Leonard’s romantic partner Raul tells Leonard that Ivan overdosed. He asks

Leonard to pretend to be Ivan’s uncle in order to keep Ivan out of the system until his family is
located.

Detective Blank visits Hap at work and asks for a description of the boy’s sneakers.
Hap stands on a bridge with Trudy’s ashes. A bird attacks him, causing him to drop the box

in the river below. He jumps into the river and retrieves the box, then spreads the ashes in the
water.

Hap returns to his car and sees a campaign sign for Beau Otis, who is running a re-election
campaign for county judge.

At home, Leonard lays Ivan in a bed and removes his shoes. He sees ”Ivan” written inside the
shoes in marker.

Police arrest Leonard at his house and lead him away. The same man from earlier watches
from a van parked down the street.
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Ticking Mojo

Season 2
Episode Number: 8
Season Episode: 2

Originally aired: Thursday March 23, 2017
Writer: Abe Sylvia
Director: Maurice Marable
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Tiffany Mack (Florida Grange), Irma P. Hall (MeMaw), Brian
Dennehy (Sheriff Valentine Otis), John ”Spud” McConnell (Judge Beau
Otis), Dohn Norwood (Reverend James Fitzgerald), Kelvin Brown (TJ),
Cranston Johnson (Detective Marvin Hanson)

Guest Stars: Precious Bright (Mother 1), Deja Dee (Miriam), Luke Eikens (Bailiff),
Evan Gamble (Sneed), Kaden Washington Lewis (Little Leonard), Le-
ander Suleiman (Lucille), Sedale Threatt Jr. (Melton), Olaniyan Thur-
mon (Ivan), Pacey Liz Walker (Mother 2), William Cowboy Reed (Sneeds
Partner), Enrique Murciano (Raoul), Wayne Dehart (Illium Moon), Dou-
glas M. Griffin (Charlie Blank), Gail Matthius (Officer Peg), Kendall
Cloud (BB), Danny Vinson (State Prosecutor), Brenda Melton (Mother
Six), Monique Grant (Mother 3), A’cire Newby (Mother 4), Ciera Tipton-
Evans (Mother 5)

Summary: Hap and Florida schemes to free Leonard from a dire situation; odd
clues bring Hap and Leanord to a cryptic person of interest in the
case.

Ivan wakes up at Leonard’s house in the
middle of the night and creeps into the
hallway. He hits an intruder with one of
Leonard’s cowboy statues and flees. The
intruder, the same grizzled man who has
been staking out Leonard’s house, re-
trieves a hidden lunchbox from a vent.

Someone nabs Ivan in the street.
Melton picks Leonard from a police

lineup and identifies him as the man he
saw with Chester.

At the station, Florida tells Leonard
that he’s a suspect in the boy’s murder

and asks where Leonard was on the night of Sep. 9, 1986. Hap guesses that Melton is Leonard’s
accuser.

In the lobby of the police station, a group of black women clamors for an update on the dead
boy. Officer Peg tells the women, who are all mothers of missing boys, that investigators are still
trying to identify the body.

Hap and Florida speak to the mothers and learn that Chester already questioned them about
the boys’ disappearances. Afterwards at a bar, Florida wonders if Chester was a child predator.

Hap drunkenly returns to the station and tries to sweet-talk Officer Peg into letting him see
Leonard. She orders him to leave.

Officer Sneed beats Leonard in an interrogation room and asks if Leonard and Chester liked
little boys. Detective Hanson discovers them and orders Officer Sneed to stop.

Hap stops by Sunday services at New Hope Church, knowing that Florida is in attendance.
Reverend Fitzgerald welcomes Hap.
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Raul checks on Leonard’s wounds at the hospital while Detective Hanson guards him.
Reverend Fitzgerald speaks to his congregation about police negligence in the missing boy

cases. Sheriff Valentine, accompanied by his son, Beau Otis, drops by and promises to seek
justice for the dead boy. Afterwards, Otis hands out campaign materials to congregants. Hap
refuses to shake Otis’s hand.

At the station, the man who took the lunchbox from Leonard’s house distributes books to
prisoners. He places pennies and salt around Leonard’s cell to offer voodoo protection and hands
Leonard a book that Leonard instantly recognizes from his childhood. Leonard finds a petrified
chicken foot inside the book.

At Leonard’s arraignment, Otis denies Leonard bail and sets a trial date without hearing
Florida’s entire defense. Florida threatens to report Officer Sneed’s assault but Otis says Leonard’s
injuries were officially due to a ”fall.”

Hap corners Otis in the men’s room and tells him that his father and Leonard’s father were
killed by Otis in a drunken incident years ago. He presumes that Sheriff Valentine paid someone
off to conceal the accident and threatens to expose Otis’s secret if he doesn’t grant Leonard bail.

At the diner, Hap and Florida beg Leonard to skip town until everything blows over. Leonard
insists on clearing Chester’s name but eventually agrees.

Hap packs food for Leonard at his house and notices pennies on the window sills. Upstairs,
Leonard finds his broken cowboy figurine and decides to continue his investigation instead of
skipping town. When Hap brings the pennies to Leonard’s attention, Leonard remembers the
man from jail. Florida recognizes the man as Illium Moon.

Hap and Leonard drive to Illium’s house and find Illium waiting for them.
Melton holds Ivan prisoner in his attic. He orders Ivan to return to Leonard’s house and plant

a cigar box inside a mattress.
Illium tells Hap and Leonard that he found the dead boy’s body in his pond but didn’t kill

him. Hap asks Illium to tell the police that Leonard is innocent. Illium refuses to talk to the
police but agrees to let Hap and Leonard investigate his pond the following day. Illium gives
Leonard the lunchbox, which contains items from Chester’s investigation: newspaper clippings,
a journal filled with names of missing boys and a necklace with the initials ”B.B.”

Back home, Leonard finds Ivan watching TV in his living room. Ivan refuses to divulge where
he’s been. He retreats to his room and removes the cigar box from his mattress.

On MeMaw’s porch, Hap informs Florida that Chester and Illium were investigating the miss-
ing children together. He adds that Leonard has an alibi for the night of the boy’s murder: a
double feature that they both attended at a movie theater. Florida doubts whether they can
prove the alibi.

Worried that Hap will bring police to his home, Illium flees his shack in the middle of the
night. He hallucinates the dead boy while driving and veers off the road, straight into his pond.

20



Hap and Leonard Episode Guide

Holy Mojo

Season 2
Episode Number: 9
Season Episode: 3

Originally aired: Wednesday March 29, 2017
Writer: John Wirth
Director: Abe Sylvia
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Tiffany Mack (Florida Grange), Irma P. Hall (MeMaw), Brian
Dennehy (Sheriff Valentine Otis), John ”Spud” McConnell (Judge Beau
Otis), Dohn Norwood (Reverend James Fitzgerald), Kelvin Brown (TJ),
Cranston Johnson (Detective Marvin Hanson)

Guest Stars: Irma P. Hall (Meemaw), Evan Gamble (Sneed), Wayne Dehart (Il-
lium Moon), Sedale Threatt Jr. (Melton), Deja Dee (Miriam), Olaniyan
Thurmon (Ivan), Shirlene King Pearson (Stella Goodhart), Dolan
Wilson (Fernie Taint), Gwen Waymon (Turquoise), Breana Cymone
(Breechelle), Katherine Leroy (Dawnisha), Valerie Payton (Leelanee),
Ava Haygood (Jezebel), Enisha Brewster (Daisy), Legend Williams
(Boy), William Cowboy Reed (Sneeds Partner), Shaquita Smith (Stella’s
Client)

Summary: Hap and Leonard go on a wild goose chase across the town as new
evidence surfaces.

Flash back to 1928. A girl, Jezebel, closes
her eyes for a game of hide and seek with
her Sunday school classmates. A gang of
Klansmen approaches the church. Pastor
Moody’s wife, Daisy, ushers the children
inside, accidentally leaving Jezebel out-
side. Jezebel opens her eyes and sees the
pastor hanging from a tree. The church is
on fire.

In the present, Hap and Leonard find
Illium’s van in the pond with Illium’s body
inside. Rather than call police and risk
incriminating Leonard, they sink Illium

and his van to the bottom of the pond. They discover the iron gate that was used to anchor
the dead boy’s body, with the boy’s skeleton hands dangling off the gate. Hap and Leonard stow
the gate at Fernie’s.

Florida confronts Beau Otis at the diner and insists he recuse himself from Leonard’s case,
given his history with Leonard. Otis refuses.

Hap pores over Uncle Chester’s evidence in the missing boy cases.
Detective Hanson shows up at Leonard’s house with a search warrant as Leonard and Ivan

eat breakfast. Ivan sneaks out of the house and tosses the cigar box onto Melton’s roof. Officer
Sneed and Melton see Ivan flee.

Leonard visits with MeMaw while police search his house.
Florida urges Hap to speak with Illium again, but Hap implies that Illium can no longer help

with the case.
Hap stops by MeMaw’s house to take Leonard to Cooperstown.
Florida tells Detective Hanson that Illium Moon, not Leonard, was Uncle Chester’s associate.

Detective Hanson agrees to consider her evidence.
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As they drive to Cooperstown, Hap explains to Leonard that four of the missing boys’ names
began with B and that they all lived in Cooperstown. Hap suggests they look for a fence without
a gate. Ivan pops out of hiding after falling asleep in the truck flatbed. He offers to take them to
the gate.

Florida and Detective Hanson look for Illium at his shack. Detective Hanson finds Illium’s
water-logged book by the pond and guesses that Illium is dead.

Ivan leads Hap and Leonard through the streets of Cooperstown. A group of concerned Coop-
erstown women tracks their movement, worried for Ivan’s safety.

Ivan takes Hap and Leonard to the wrong gate. They turn their focus on interviewing the
missing boys’ mothers. As they make their way back through the neighborhood, the women
surround them and take Ivan under their wing.

The Cooperstown women take Hap and Leonard to Stella, the community leader, at her salon.
Hap explains that they’re investigating the dead boys and shows her a photo of the gate. Stella
instantly recognizes it and shows them an old wedding photo of her grandparents, Pastor Moody
and Daisy, standing beside their church — right next to the gate. Stella cries for her dead son.
Hap comforts her.

Leonard drops Hap off at the garage then drives to a supermarket with Ivan. Leonard guesses
that Ivan ran away from home and urges him to go back.

Otis stops by Fernie’s and orders Hap to check his oil and fill his gas tank. He guzzles beer
and threatens Hap for meddling in Leonard’s case. Hap quietly punctures Otis’s radiator hose.

Leonard leaves Ivan in the car while he shops. When he returns, Ivan is gone.
Otis waits on a deserted roadside after his radiator busts. Hap arrives in a tow truck and

menaces Otis with a crow bar. Otis keels over from a seizure. He later flees while Hap fixes his
car.

At the diner, Sheriff Valentine warns Florida to watch her step, along with Hap and Leonard.
Leonard barges in on Officer Sneed as he takes a bath at home. He threatens to electrocute

Sneed unless he tells him where Ivan is. Sneed says he took Ivan to Melton’s house and admits
that Sheriff Valentine asked his department to pin the boy’s murder on Leonard. Sneed further
explains that he convinced Melton to plant some of the dead boy’s bones in Leonard’s house, and
that Melton then assigned the task to Ivan — who didn’t do it.

Leonard storms into Melton’s house with a gun and finds Ivan unconscious. He brings Ivan
to MeMaw’s house and leaves.

Florida stops by the garage and warns Hap that Leonard will go to jail if they keep harassing
Otis. Hap admits that he and Leonard found Illium dead in the pond. They kiss and make love
in his truck.

Leonard goes to Illium’s shack and makes a Molotov cocktail. He hurls the Molotov cocktail
at Melton’s house and watches it burn.

MeMaw cradles Ivan in her living room. On her mantle is a photo of Pastor Moody, Daisy and
the Sunday school class standing beside the gate.
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Bad Mojo

Season 2
Episode Number: 10
Season Episode: 4

Originally aired: Wednesday April 5, 2017
Writer: Abe Sylvia, Ione Lloyd
Director: Abe Sylvia
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Tiffany Mack (Florida Grange), Irma P. Hall (MeMaw), Brian
Dennehy (Sheriff Valentine Otis), John ”Spud” McConnell (Judge Beau
Otis), Dohn Norwood (Reverend James Fitzgerald), Kelvin Brown (TJ),
Cranston Johnson (Detective Marvin Hanson)

Guest Stars: Henry G. Sanders (Uncle Chester), Douglas M. Griffin (Charlie Blank),
Deja Dee (Miriam), Evan Gamble (Sneed), Wayne Dehart (Illium Moon),
Olaniyan Thurmon (Ivan), Shirlene King (Stella Goodhart), Dolan Wil-
son (Fernie Taint), Trace Masters (Young Hap), Kaden Washington
Lewis (Young Leonard), Gail Matthius (Officer Peg), Kendall Cloud (BB),
Theodis Ealey (Bobby Joe Soothe), Naza Usher (Alicia), Kenneth Israel
(Marcus), William Colquitt (Coroner), Gwen Waymon (Turquoise), Bre-
ana Cymone (Breechelle), Katherine Leroy (Dawnisha), Valerie Payton
(Leelanee), Evelyn LeTeshia (Church Lady One), Keisha Tillis (Church
Lady Two), Adam Drescher (Boss Man), Adrienne Johnson (Featured
Church Lady), William Cowboy Reed (Sneeds Partner)

Summary: Hap and Leonard face the consequences of their crimes. After separat-
ing to cover more ground, a grisly secret is uncovered.

In a flashback, a young Hap tells a young
Leonard that he’s in love with Florida
Grange but worries that she’s out of his
league.

In the present day, Hap wakes up
alone in the garage after his night with
Florida. He finds Officer Sneed standing
in the garage with three officers.

Officer Peg throws Hap in jail for kid-
napping Beau Otis. Leonard sits in an ad-
jacent cell for arson.

Sheriff Valentine meets with Hap and
offers to release him and Leonard if Hap

promises to forget the past and leave Otis alone.
Leonard tells Detectives Hanson and Blank that he did not burn Melton’s house to the ground.

Leonard points out that they still haven’t figured out who took the dead boy’s shoes.
Leonard joins Hap outside the station. They ruefully agree it would be best to end their inves-

tigation.
Hap asks Florida why she didn’t show up to represent him at the police station. Florida coolly

explains that she can’t help clients who’ve burned down a house and assaulted a county judge.
In the bathroom, Hap fantasizes about Florida kissing him.
At home, MeMaw snaps a Polaroid photo of Leonard and Ivan then asks Leonard to place the

photo on her wall. Leonard sees the 1928 photo of Pastor Moody and his Sunday school class
— including MeMaw as a girl — standing by the same gate he and Hap found in the lake where
Illium died.
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Leonard asks MeMaw about the photo, which he learns was taken at the Old Hope Church.
MeMaw explains that the KKK burned the church down the day after the photo was taken.
Leonard asks MeMaw where the church was located but MeMaw does not remember.

Hanson and Blank sneak into the morgue to re-examine B.B.’s body. They hear a noise.
Sheriff Valentine secretly places the red shoes in B.B.’s body bag then tells the coroner to

send the body to the crematorium. Hanson and Blank witness the exchange from an adjacent
room.

Hap loads the gate onto his truck at the garage and suddenly recognizes an angel symbol on
the gate. He goes to the New Hope Church and spots an identical angel symbol in a stained-glass
window.

Hap stops by a New Hope boxing fundraiser to ask congregants if the church ever had a fence
around it. Reverend Fitzgerald invites Hap to spar with him. From the ring, Hap notices a boy
wearing a ”New Hope Boxing Club” sweatshirt. Reverend Fitzgerald knocks him out.

Leonard researches the Old Hope Church at the library and tracks down the address. Mean-
while, Hap asks congregants if they know where the Old Hope Church was located. They point
toward the location.

Hap and Leonard visit the ruins of the old church. In the basement, they discover a room of
pine caskets containing dead boys — each casket marked with years dating back to 1977. The
current year, 1988, is empty, leading them to believe the killer will soon strike again. They decide
against going to the police since their fingerprints are all over the room.

Back at the garage, Hap and Leonard pore over the evidence and determine that 13 boys
went missing in October of the years corresponding to the years on the caskets. They mark the
location of the boys’ homes on a map and connect the dots, resulting in a shape that ”looks like
Idaho.”

At the diner, Hanson and Blank try to determine why Valentine took the dead boy’s shoes.
Hanson speculates that Hap is the killer and that he blackmailed Valentine into pinning the
murder on Leonard.

In the car, Hap and Leonard figure out that all 13 kids went missing on the third Saturday of
October — which is taking place the next day. They see Hanson and Blank following them.

Hap and Leonard seek refuge in Stella’s salon to escape Hanson and Blank. Stella tells them
to leave through the back door then picks up her phone.

Hanson and Blank wait for Hap and Leonard in the parking lot, then decide to go in. B.B.’s
red shoes sit in the car.

Hanson asks Stella if she’s seen Hap. Stella’s gang emerges from the back of the salon and,
along with Stella’s salon customers, surrounds Hanson and Blank. The women barrage the de-
tectives with neighborhood crimes that the sheriff’s department has failed to address.

Hap and Leonard board the local bus and spot a map of the bus route on the wall: It’s the
same ”Idaho” shape as the map of the missing boys.

Hap and Leonard ride the bus to the final stop. They get off and find a crew setting up the
annual Harvest Carnival. ”Children under 10 free,” reads a sign.

A box containing B.B.’s ashes is placed on a shelf at the crematorium.
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Pie a la Mojo

Season 2
Episode Number: 11
Season Episode: 5

Originally aired: Wednesday April 12, 2017
Writer: Joe R. Lansdale
Director: Tim Southam
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Tiffany Mack (Florida Grange), Irma P. Hall (MeMaw), Brian
Dennehy (Sheriff Valentine Otis), John ”Spud” McConnell (Judge Beau
Otis), Dohn Norwood (Reverend James Fitzgerald), Kelvin Brown (TJ),
Cranston Johnson (Detective Marvin Hanson)

Guest Stars: Bonnie Morgan (Judy Punch), Douglas M. Griffin (Charlie Blank),
Henry G. Sanders (Uncle Chester), Evan Gamble (Sneed), Olaniyan
Thurmon (Ivan), Deja Dee (Miriam), Dolan Wilson (Fernie Taint),
Kendall Cloud (BB), Gail Matthius (Officer Peg), Owen Harn (Brick),
Trace Masters (Young Hap), Kaden Washington Lewis (Young Leonard),
Adam Drescher (Boss Man), Kasey Lansdale (Country Singer Girl),
Raphael Dante’ Carr Jr. (Church Kid / Bus Kid), Ron Anglin (Jug-
gler Clown), Kandace Howard (Carnival Goer), William Cowboy Reed
(Sneeds Partner)

Summary: Hap and Leonard attempt to stop the culprit by going undercover at
the carnival.

Hap and Leonard, portrayed as young
kids, wander around the carnival at
night, trying to solve the case. Uncle
Chester’s spirit urges them to find the
killer.

Detectives Hanson and Blank ask
Florida where Hap is. She coolly informs
them that she no longer represents Hap.

From MeMaw’s window, Leonard sees
Officer Sneed watching his house from
the street. Leonard orders Ivan to stay
with MeMaw while he and Hap go to the
carnival.

TJ drives past Officer Sneed with Hap and Leonard hiding in the back seat.
Hap and Leonard join a crowd of carnies while the carnival boss hands out work assignments.

Hap and Leonard get assigned to cleaning duty.
Hap and Leonard study the carnies in search of potential killers. Hap gets tackled by Judy, a

contortionist and an old flame. She invites them to eat lunch with her.
At the lunch tent, Hap and Leonard notice that the cook, Brick, has a 13-stripe tattoo on his

arm. They surmise that the 13 stripes represent the 13 dead boys. Leonard makes eye contact
with Brick.

Hap tells Judy that they’re looking for a carnival employee who is hurting children. Judy
offers to steal her boss’s employee files.

Leonard sneaks into Brick’s trailer.
In her trailer, Judy presents Hap with a box of files on every carnival employee. She tries to

entice Hap into sex but he gently turns her down.
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Brick finds Leonard snooping around his trailer and comes onto Leonard. Leonard keeps him
at bay by asking about his tattoo. Brick explains that the stripes represent his years of sobriety
and points to more stripes on his leg.

Ivan sneaks out of MeMaw’s house to attend the carnival.
Florida looks for Hap at Fernie’s Garage then breaks into the stock room. Hanson and Blank

follow her to the garage and see her enter the stock room. Inside, Florida discovers the news
clippings and photos from Hap and Leonard’s investigation. Hanson and Blank follow her inside
and presume from all the evidence that Hap is the killer. Hanson orders an all-points bulletin on
Hap.

At the carnival, Sneed shows photos of Hap and Leonard to the carnival boss. The boss tells
Sneed that Hap and Leonard are at the carnival. Meanwhile, Reverend Fitzgerald arrives at the
carnival with a bus load of church kids, including Ivan.

Hanson and Blank dispatch a team of cops to find Hap at the carnival.
In Judy’s trailer, Hap shows Leonard the files of nine potential suspects. Feeling overwhelmed,

they decide to call the cops for help.
Hanson, Blank and Florida search for Hap at the carnival.
Leonard warns Reverend Fitzgerald that something bad is about to happen. The Reverend

asks Leonard to help gather the kids and meet him by the stage.
Florida finds Hap and warns him that the police are looking for him. They hide in the Monkey

Maze. Hap tells Florida that they found 13 dead boys at the old church and that he and Leonard
are looking for the killer. Hap locks her in a room to prevent her from telling Hanson about their
discovery.

Reverend Fitzgerald tells Leonard that Ivan is missing. Leonard runs off to find Ivan.
Hap finds Leonard and informs him that the cops are looking for him. Leonard refuses to

abandon Ivan and continues his search.
Reverend Fitzgerald tells Leonard that one of the kids saw Ivan getting into a car in the

parking lot. Hap predicts that the killer is taking Ivan to the crypt. Hanson and Blank corner
Hap. Leonard gallops up on a horse and escapes with Hap on horseback.

Hap and Leonard arrive at the old Hope Church and find TJ standing by a car. TJ tells them
Ivan is in the car and is ”going to be in heaven real soon.” Reverend Fitzgerald sneaks up with a
gun and confesses to killing boys who he has deemed are ”lost souls.” Hap grabs the gun from
Reverend Fitzgerald. TJ attacks Hap on the reverend’s orders. Hanson, Blank, Florida and a host
of cops arrive. Reverend Fitzgerald shoots himself. Blank shoots TJ dead.

Leonard rouses Ivan in the car.
Florida and Hanson watch as police uncover the bodies in the crypt. Hanson comforts Florida

and leads her out of the crypt. Outside, Florida punches Hap for locking her up.
The next morning, Hanson pulls up to MeMaw’s house to deliver the bad news. Leonard

insists on telling her himself.
Leonard tries to console MeMaw in her dining room. She cries then quietly dies in her chair.

Meanwhile, a news reporter on MeMaw’s television announces that Judge Beau Otis won his
reelection bid.
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No Mo’ Mojo

Season 2
Episode Number: 12
Season Episode: 6

Originally aired: Wednesday April 19, 2017
Writer: Nick Damici, Jim Mickle
Director: Tim Southam
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Tiffany Mack (Florida Grange), Irma P. Hall (MeMaw), Brian
Dennehy (Sheriff Valentine Otis), John ”Spud” McConnell (Judge Beau
Otis), Dohn Norwood (Reverend James Fitzgerald), Kelvin Brown (TJ),
Cranston Johnson (Detective Marvin Hanson)

Guest Stars: Deja Dee (Miriam), Evan Gamble (Sneed), Olaniyan Thurmon (Ivan),
Dwayne Boyd (Clayton), Jay DeVon Johnson (Dad), Tequilla Whitfield
(Teenage Girl), Kendall Cloud (BB), Douglas M. Griffin (Charlie Blank),
Enrique Murciano (Raoul), Shirlene King Pearson (Stella Goodhart),
Henry G. Sanders (Uncle Chester), Owen Harn (Brick), Shanorris Pol-
lock (Bunt), William Cowboy Reed (Sneeds Partner)

Summary: As the investigation nears its end, Hap and Leonard seek revenge for
past wrongs.

In a flashback, B.B. flees through a field
and scrambles over the gate at the Old
Hope Church. A man snatches him and
kills him with a rock, then dumps the
body and gate in Illium Moon’s pond.

Hap and Leonard sit in their car out-
side the New Hope Church, where a fu-
neral is being held for Reverend Fitzger-
ald and the dead boys. Hap wonders how
congregants can mourn their reverend
even after he killed the boys.

At the funeral, Sheriff Valentine
mourns the dead boys and offers his sym-

pathies to the congregation. He thanks the police for solving the case.
Outside, Stella thanks Hap and Leonard and assures them that everyone in the community

knows it was them, not the police, who solved the case. Hap watches as Hanson escorts Florida
to her car and kisses her.

Leonard returns home to find Raul waiting with Ivan’s father. Ivan tells Leonard he decided to
go back to his family. Leonard gives Ivan his cowboy hat as a parting gift. After Ivan leaves, Raul
kisses Leonard.

Florida packs up MeMaw’s belongings. When Hap asks why things didn’t work out between
them, she admits she always saw herself with a black man. Florida comments on the black
angel figurines that TJ painted every autumn for the Feast of Archangels. Hap realizes the angels
represent the dead boys and counts 14 figurines — leaving B.B. unaccounted for.

At home, Chester’s spirit tells Leonard that his work isn’t over. Hap runs in and tells Leonard
that Reverend Fitzgerald didn’t kill B.B.

Hanson strides into Sheriff Valentine’s office and places B.B.’s red shoes on the desk. He
demands an explanation.

Hap and Leonard visit Detective Blank at home to ask what happened to B.B.’s red shoes.
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Hap and Leonard stake out Sheriff Valentine’s house, determined to prove that he killed B.B.
They follow Sheriff Valentine in his car.

Hap and Leonard observe Sheriff Valentine as he watches boys play catch at a baseball dia-
mond. They sneer with disgust at the sheriff’s seemingly predatory nature and follow him to his
next destination.

Hap and Leonard sit at the Armadillo Diner while Sheriff Valentine eats at the counter. The
sheriff confronts them about being followed but insists they all learn to get along. He invites
them to a party at his house and leaves. As Miriam serves tea to Hap and Leonard, they notice a
B.B. necklace around her neck.

Hap and Leonard visit Miriam at home and show her the B.B. necklace from the boy’s body.
Miriam breaks down in tears and screams for her dead boy. Inside, Miriam tells Hap and Leonard
that B.B. had been missing for two years. Leonard sees a photo of B.B. in a tree near the old
church. Miriam says it was his ”hideaway.” Hap and Leonard ask if there’s any way B.B. could
have known Sheriff Valentine. Miriam stammers out a reply then abruptly sends them away.

Hap and Leonard visit B.B.’s hideaway and rummage through a bag of B.B.’s ”treasures.”
They find a birthday card from Sheriff Valentine, a sheriff’s badge and a baseball team photo in
which Sheriff Valentine holds B.B.’s shoulder.

Hap and Leonard confront Sheriff Valentine at his party and accuse him of being a child
predator and killing B.B. Sheriff Valentine shows them a B.B. necklace around his neck and
reveals that B.B. was his and Miriam’s son. He speaks adoringly of B.B. and explains that he hid
the red shoes to mask B.B.’s identity, thus allowing Miriam to hold onto hope that he was still
alive.

Beau Otis interrupts to announce the fireworks have begun. Hap, Leonard and Sheriff Valen-
tine simultaneously realize that Beau must be B.B.’s killer. Sheriff Valentine screams at Beau,
who finally admits he killed B.B. because he was jealous. Sheriff Valentine pushes Beau into an
empty swimming pool, killing him.

Hap picks up Leonard in his freshly painted truck. They return the iron gate to the Old Hope
Church and drive off. The ghosts of B.B., MeMaw and the dead Sunday school children watch
them leave.

Down the road, a woman hangs KKK robes on a clothes line. A noose swings from a tree in
her yard.
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The Two-Bear Mambo

Season 3
Episode Number: 13
Season Episode: 1

Originally aired: Wednesday March 7, 2018
Writer:
Director:
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Tiffany Mack (Florida Grange), Cranston Johnson (Detective
Marvin Hanson)

Guest Stars: Jesse C. Boyd (Boone), Andrew Dice Clay (Sonny Knox), Dedric Dec
Colbert (Clinton), Atkins Estimond (Cletus Carter III), Brent Moorer
Gaskins (Swing Dancer), Louis Gossett Jr. (Bacon), Nicholas Logan
(Grady), Sydney Wease (Belinda), Chris Codding (Townsman / Parent),
Aleia Kristene (Neighbor), Gennaro Napolitano (Meltons Crew Member)

Summary: Leonard lands himself in jail for burning down his neighbor’s crack
house. Hap makes a deal with Lt. Hanson: he’ll go to Grovetown, a
notorious Klan town, to find a missing Florida Grange if Hanson lets
Leonard out of jail.

We start in Grovetown, Texas, 1931. We
see a Robert Johnson-esque guitar player
named L.C. Soothe, who makes a deal
with the devil. They both piss in a jar to-
gether, then they take a drink, and the
deal is done. Afterwards, lad can play the
guitar like a master. One of his big hits
was ”The Two-Bear Mambo.” However, all
the stardom brought the devil further into
the world, and the bigger L.C. got the
more the devil took.

And soon enough, the KKK were worse
than ever in Grovetown. They chased L.C.

down and hung him, as the devil stood by watching. Since then, the devil’s never left Grovetown,
always lurking.

We see our boys Hap Collins and Leonard Pine good and beat up. Neither are in good shape,
though Leonard’s probably worse off. What’s clear is that they’re already getting ready for any
repercussions that might come their way after all they’ve discovered. But repercussions from
what?

Skip back to Christmas Eve, only three days prior. Things around town, especially in Leonard’s
neighbourhood, are feeling festive. What’s Santa Claus Pine brought for the crack house next
door? Gas down the chimney and a house fire. Merry Christmas, bitch! This is how ole Leonard
celebrates the holidays. It’s all part of his ongoing, unofficial neighbourhood watch. Appears it’s
become sort of routine.

Leonard gets dragged down to the precinct by Dt. Charlie Blank, as does Hap for being on
the scene. We also hear that Dt. Hanson and Florida Grange are split up, which our man Hap
enjoys hearing. Christmas Eve in jail provides another two-bear mambo of a different kind, when
the cops and the prisoners all watch some Nature Channel-type stuff about the mating rituals of
bears. Perfectly hilarious conversation follows.

”You think bear dicks get swelled up in a knot like dog dicks do?”
”I don’t know, Cletus. I never finished my degree on bear dicks.”
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”Oh, Hap, stop lyin’. Now you’re just being modest.”
When Dt. Hanson turns up, he tells Hap he’s worried about Florida. She’s gone down to

Grovetown, and he’s getting suspicious. Things seem strange. Florida sounded scared when she
called Hanson on the phone. And where’s this headed? The cop wants Mr. Collins to go looking
for her, seeing as how he’s back with his wife again. ”This ain’t police business,” Hanson tells
Hap. Plus, it’ll help get Leonard out of a cell.

When Leonard gets home he finds an intruder in his house; two, in fact. They were guarding
the crack house. Good thing they’ve got pizza, or Mr. Pine might not have been so careful with
the cleaver he picked up to use for self defence. Things work out well now that Leonard needs
somebody to watch HIS place while he and Hap go off on their latest job.
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Ho-Ho Mambo

Season 3
Episode Number: 14
Season Episode: 2

Originally aired: Wednesday March 14, 2018
Writer: Nick Damici
Director: Jim Mickle
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Tiffany Mack (Florida Grange), Cranston Johnson (Detective
Marvin Hanson)

Guest Stars: Douglas M. Griffin (Charlie Blank), Corbin Bernsen (Chief Cantuck),
Evan Gamble (Sneed), Curtis Harding (L.C. Soothe), Lionel Boyce
(Leon), Dedric Dec Colbert (Clinton), Jane McNeill (Maude), Sydney
Wease (Belinda), Cullen Moss (Tim Garner), Andrew Dice Clay (Sonny
Knox), Louis Gossett Jr. (Bacon), Jesse C. Boyd (Boone), Sam Bulling-
ton (Billy), Khyeer Hughes (Son of Detective Hanson), Dakota James
Alden Lane (Cowboy), Nicholas Logan (Grady), Bella Noelle Winkowski
(Snot Nose), Alex Hargett (Townsfolk), Gennaro Napolitano (Meltons
Crew Member)

Summary: Hap and Leonard quickly learn that the people of Grovetown are dan-
gerous characters.

Ms. Florida Grange walks alone at night
on the main stretch in Grovetown, just
as all the street lights are shutting down
for the evening. Then she turns a corner
to find a Ku Klux Klan member, hooded,
lighting a cross on fire. Behind her are
a group of men. A truck revs its engine
nearby, and so Florida tries to take her
heels and run. She’s chased into an al-
leyway, but will she be able to get away
from these hideous racists?

Bad dreams. In a motel, Hap wakes
and immediately he’s on edge. He nearly

puts a bullet in Dt. Charlie Blank. Lucky these two are buddies, or else that could’ve really
caused some shit. Hap mentions Sneed was down in Grovetown, too.

When Hap and Leonard found their car spray painted and beat to shit it was none other than
Sneed who showed up on the call. Officer Sneed has Officer Reynolds with him. Neither of them
are too concerned with the racist hate on the car. And no matter how bad Hap wants to make it
an issue, sadly Leonard knows they should let it go for now.

In Grovetown, things are real nasty. We see an old man called Bacon called in to work on
the dead body of a young black man. They tell the old man he’s ”your kind,” and so nobody else
wants to work on him. No autopsy done, either. No need, they say. More like they don’t care
enough.

At a local radio station, Sonny Knox hosts his show and rambles to his listeners. He gets a
visit from Hap and Leonard inquiring about Ms. Grange. Florida had come down to work on a
deal with the grandson of L.C. Soothe, Bobby Joe; the young lad found a ”long lost” recording
Soothe. However, Bobby Joe turned up hanged from a bridge, and Florida hasn’t been seen since.
Oh, and that house that burned down where the boys met the Chief? That was Sonny’s place.
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If it weren’t for Hap’s quick talk there might be more trouble at the diner when they stop to eat.
He manages to convince people at the counter that he and Leonard are actually exterminators,
and Leonard’s name is ”Dr. Macumba.” Hilarious moment as they both play along.

After the diner, the boys find their little bike’s being dragged behind a truck. They hop into
the back. But soon the men inside stop and attack. Hap and Leonard are able to kick a good
deal of ass instead of being shotgunned or beaten to death with a baseball bat. Merry Christmas,
assholes!

In the ratty place where Hap and Leonard stay they find evidence Florida stayed there recently.
The owner of the shitty motel tells them she was there for a single night. Elsewhere, the boy
Bacon worked on — Bobby Joe — is laid to rest in the cemetery, under cover of darkness,
unfortunately. Grovetown is so wildly racist, even in the ’80s, that again, many liberal would
probably be shocked to realise this is true to life. Officer Reynolds is a particularly ugly racist.
Although it seems that there may be coming a genuine change in Officer Sneed, whose ideology
could be due for a shift.

And back in their shitty little room, Hap and Leonard discover a napkin with a chilling note
written on it (no surprise: racist hillbillies can’t spell). The Klan rides strong in Grovetown. Our
boys are on a collision course with those violent racists, one way or another.
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T-Bone Mambo

Season 3
Episode Number: 15
Season Episode: 3

Originally aired: Wednesday March 21, 2018
Writer: John Wirth
Director: Abe Sylvia
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Tiffany Mack (Florida Grange), Cranston Johnson (Detective
Marvin Hanson)

Guest Stars: Douglas M. Griffin (Charlie Blank), Corbin Bernsen (Chief Cantuck),
Laura Allen (Officer Reynolds), Pat Healy (Truman Brown), Lionel
Boyce (Leon), Ann Nesby (Blind Tillie), Dedric Dec Colbert (Clinton),
Jane McNeill (Maude), Sydney Wease (Belinda), Cullen Moss (Tim Gar-
ner), Romen L. McPherson (Cleavon), Andrew Dice Clay (Sonny Knox
(voice)), Louis Gossett Jr. (Bacon), Jesse C. Boyd (Boone), Nicholas
Logan (Grady), Braelyn Rankins (Boy), Devin Bright (Boy 2), Ashani
Roberts (Dream Florida), Danielle Deadwyler (Woman), LaQuita James
(Woman 2), Bryan Justin (Florida’s Date), Luray Cooper (Vietnam
Leonard), Theresa Hightower (The Next Whitney)

Summary: Leonard locates Bacon, a local diner cook, to find out more information
about Florida’s disappearance. Hap is arrested by Officer Reynolds
and taken to meet the local Klan chief, Truman Brown.

Dt. Hanson is driving behind a truck full
of Christmas trees when a tarp flies off,
sending him into the trees. Nearby, a sole
frog croaks on the road. Just like the
one we saw the Devil caress in the first
episode of Season 3. ’Cause the Devil,
he’s a-watching.

Skip to Hap in bed next to Florida,
waking up to one another as it rains
lightly outside; a romantic, beautiful mo-
ment. ”I thought I’d lost you,” he tells her
smiling. But it’s just another dream. He’s
not physically close to Florida, yet Hap

will remain spiritually close to her, perhaps forever. And those dreams, they become waking
nightmares, as well. On top of it, he has Officer Reynolds sniffing around with her racist and
homophobic ass. She has a thing for him, verging on sexual harassment. Either way, the cop
is taking Hap to meet the Christmas tree kingpin of East Texas, and head of the local Ku Klux
Klan, Truman Brown.

Leonard is off on his own, down on the South Side of town looking for information — set to
the fine music of Sister Wynona Carr. In the meantime, the guys watching his place are jamming
to Frankie Smith’s ”Double Dutch Bus” while perfecting a few dance moves.

On the South Side, Leonard finds a church. He goes to see Bacon and they have a frank,
tough conversation about what they each came back to after their respective tours of duty —
Leonard in Vietnam, Bacon in various places in Europe during WWII. Unfortunately, the old man
believes the Klan has killed Florida.

At the Christmas tree farm, Truman discusses the ”problems” Hap seems to have brought
with him down to Grovetown. He talks about Florida stirring things up there, and Hap doesn’t
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take any of it lying down. Brown is an unabashed racist, whose whiteness clashes hard with
that of Hap’s, whose live has revolved around equality, in various ways. Stark contrast of two
men who grew up in the same places, and how two people such as that can diverge so widely.
Hap understands that racists are simply trying to tear the place apart, they aren’t concerned
with building anything back up; they just don’t want the current system because it involves
non-whites. A nasty fact of this world.

Over at the police station, Hap goes to see Chief Cantuck about Brown and his gang, believing
they killed Soothe, and then Florida, too. It’s not exactly easy to try getting the Chief to listen,
he’s another casual racist believing he’s upholding the law when he’s only serving to perpetuate
the damage of whiteness against people of colour — ”Just racist enough to turn the other way.”

We get a bit more info on Belinda. She disappeared a while, then returned from out of the
woods. She wanders around town a good bit, and she doesn’t talk anymore, either. Hap wonders
if she might know things about Grovetown; important things. Hap and Leonard meet up again,
and the latter tells his buddy Bacon did see Florida at a place called Blind Tillie’s before she
disappeared. At the same time, later in the night, the Chief heads up to the Brown farm where
he starts poking around. Is there a possible hope that this old white man might come around?
Or is he a totally lost cause? He does at least tell Truman: ”You ain’t above the law.”

At Blind Tillie’s, Hap stays outside, as Bacon takes Leonard inside where rhythm and blues
play loud and proud. Before heading inside Hap gets a visit from Belinda, and she has a lipstick
belonging to Ms. Grange.

When the music slows, Blind Tillie herself sits around with Hap, Bacon, and Leonard chatting
about what she knows of Florida. She saw the woman in her bar. But nothing much else, except
she was looking for those Soothe tapes. Tillie’s sure that Grovetown has all the answers, behind
the ugly, racist curtain.

On the road, Hap and Leonard are crashed into by a truck. They wind up next to the railroad
tracks, jammed up against a moving train. They manage to get out, but the Brown gang are firing
rifles at them as they run through the woods. Truman is determined to solve his problems with
more violence.
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Senorita Mambo

Season 3
Episode Number: 16
Season Episode: 4

Originally aired: Wednesday March 28, 2018
Writer: Abe Sylvia
Director: John Wirth, Ione Lloyd
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Tiffany Mack (Florida Grange), Cranston Johnson (Detective
Marvin Hanson)

Guest Stars: Laura Allen (Officer Reynolds), Corbin Bernsen (Chief Canuck), Li-
onel Boyce (Leon), Jesse C. Boyd (Boone), Andrew Dice Clay (Sonny
Knox), Evan Gamble (Sneed), Louis Gossett Jr. (Bacon), Pat Healy (Tru-
man Brown), Nicholas Logan (Grady), Jane McNeill (Maude), Romen L.
McPherson (Cleavon), Cullen Moss (Tim Garner), David Jay Schnei-
der (Young White Guy), Sydney Wease (Belinda), Gennaro Napolitano
(Meltons Crew Member)

Summary: Hap and Leonard flee from the KKK and get lost in a thicket outside
Grovetown. They discover Florida’s abandoned car and a tape recorder.

We see a couple of the white supremacist
rednecks try raping Ms. Belinda, before
a young black man runs from the field
to fight them off. They run, screaming
”You’re dead, boy.”

And who was it? Bobby Joe Soothe. He
carried her out of the woods, only to run
into Officers Sneed and Reynolds. Not ex-
actly a saving grace.

They go back to the police station,
and the cops automatically assume it
was Soothe who attacked her. There’s
a sweetness buried inside Sneed; deep,

deep down, under a lot of racist bullshit. But he’s not a good man, yet.
Meanwhile, Bobby Joe’s left dealing with Reynolds, whose racism is even more overt, and twice

as ugly. Best thing about Reynolds is she’s this superficially pretty blonde lady, and underneath
she is a rotten, hideous white supremacist. She, and others like her, are proof the nastiest things
come in pretty pleasant packaging.

Out in the woods at the present moment in time, Hap and Leonard are fumbling around in the
woods. They’ve run up on the Brown farm. Not a great place to be, y’know, considering Truman
is the head of the Ku Klux Klan in Grovetown. They head on out, then tumble into a ravine. It’s
there they find Florida’s car covered in leaves, hidden away. Not a good sign.

They find her purse, and inside is a tape recorder; its contents don’t point to anything positive.
It’s more than likely, sadly, Florida was killed. Still, Hap and Leonard push on, listening to more
of the tape.

A nice cut takes us to Florida herself. She’s over to see Sonny Knox about the Soothe record-
ings. They’re waiting for Bobby, who’ll likely not turn up because he’s being hanged. In the
meantime, Sonny thinks he’s doing well with Florida, even after referring to ”CP time” (a.k.a
coloured people time) and then talking about being an ”endangered species” as a Jew in the
South as compared to a black woman in the South. A crack up of a scene, for all the wrong
reasons.
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Later, Florida calls Dt. Hanson, asking if he’ll contact the Grovetown PD in case something’s
happened to young Soothe. He warns her about how things are down there, and asks her to
leave. Of course, she refuses. She sits for a cup of coffee in the diner just as Truman shows up
as disgusting as ever. This is right about the time Bobby Joe’s found hanging from the bridge.

Florida goes to the scene, telling the cops this is a ”federal case” seeing as how a black man’s
been strung up. You can bet that Chief Cantuck doesn’t have much time for her. She keeps
pressing, knowing he didn’t commit suicide. Bobby Joe’s body is beaten, he was clearly tied up,
and it’s obvious there was foul play. Beyond obvious. Cantuck clearly lied to Hap and Leonard
concerning what he knew about Florida. With the pair now listening to Florida’s secret tapes,
they’re discovering more and more.

Jump back again. Florida goes over to see Tim Garner, so she can see Bobby Joe’s room, and
get her own for the evening. She has a look through Soothe’s things, finding the L.C. recordings
gone. Over at the diner, she runs into Belinda, where she gives the girl her lipstick. She also runs
into Truman, too. He tries to casually run her out of there, and Florida stands her ground as a
lawyer and a black woman. Afterwards, she’s literally driven to the edge of town by the cops, as
well as Cantuck. An official escort out of town. She also lets the Chief know she knows it was
him who took the tapes from Bobby Joe’s room.

So, if Florida left town, what happened? She didn’t leave, she turned right around and went
back into Grovetown. She had Tim drive her around in his truck, undercover. She’s waiting to
see if someone will try selling the recordings to Knox. When she goes over to the radio station,
it’s a mess, and Sonny’s had the shit kicked out of him. Cleavon from Blind Tillie’s was there
looking for the tapes, because he’s owed money by Soothe. Tillie herself knows exactly ”what
killed Bobby Joe.” Any black person in Grovetown knows.

On the road Florida sees a truck behind her. The Klan is coming. We see a brief glimpse of
someone later carrying Florida, putting her in the trunk of a car.
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Mambo No. 5

Season 3
Episode Number: 17
Season Episode: 5

Originally aired: Wednesday April 4, 2018
Writer: Pam Veasey
Director: Michael Katleman
Show Stars: James Purefoy (Hap Collins), Michael Kenneth Williams (Leonard

Pine), Tiffany Mack (Florida Grange), Cranston Johnson (Detective
Marvin Hanson)

Guest Stars: Laura Allen (Officer Reynolds), Corbin Bernsen (Chief Cantuck), Lionel
Boyce (Leon), Jesse C. Boyd (Boone), Andrew Dice Clay (Sonny Knox),
Evan Gamble (Sneed), Louis Gossett Jr. (Bacon), Pat Healy (Truman
Brown), Nicholas Logan (Grady), Jane McNeill (Maude), Cullen Moss
(Tim Garner), Daniel Norris (Big Ol Boy), Sydney Wease (Belinda), Gen-
naro Napolitano (Meltons Crew Member)

Summary: Hap and Leonard escape the Thicket and return to Grovetown more
determined than ever to find Florida. However, before they can call
Charlie for back up, Truman Brown’s gang arrives, outnumbering and
overpowering them.

Hap and Leonard are getting some shut-
eye in Florida’s abandoned car. Until Hap
starts seeing Florida, dressed all in white,
asking him to follow her. Then he sees
the Ku Klux Klan dragging Leonard away.
The ground at his feet are frogs, sucking
him under like quicksand. Lucky it’s all a
dream.

In the morning, Belinda shows up.
Hap tries getting more information out of
her about the lipstick case, however, the
girl doesn’t talk to anybody anymore. So,
Leonard gives it a shot by trying ”cha-

rades” — at least that’s what Hap calls it, instead of sign language — and this prompts the
girl to start helping.

On the walk, Hap and Leonard get to talking. Leonard talks about being in Vietnam and
having to call in the ”steel rain” (cluster bombing). He talks about being terrified, watching young
men beside him die, but pushing through to try saving some of them. All in all, it relates to
Florida’s situation: ”dead or alive,” the lads are going to get her back home.

Officer Sneed lets Chief Cantuck know he say our boys in Florida’s car headed back into town,
so this sets them all off. Meanwhile, Hap and Leonard get back over to the motor inn. It’s right
around the same time Dt. Hanson’s car turns up, towed from out of the ditch where he ended
up. But no sign of the detective himself.

A little later, Hap tries to get in touch with Charlie Blank except they’re interrupted after
Truman Brown and his white supremacist pals turn up. Things get nasty, too. Bacon doesn’t
shy away, either; he makes sure his Klan resistance is well known. Thus ensues a brawl between
Hap and Leonard and the KKK boys.

Except everything gets worse after a bunch more of the Klan get there with weapons, circling
our lads. All Hap and Leonard can do is try to make it out in one piece. They make it out,
but barely in one piece. Afterwards, Hap dreams of Florida — it’s sad and poignant because
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he mentions how it’s 1989, and in ”ten years” people won’t care about race, sexual orientation,
class, et cetera.

In an alleyway, Hap and Leonard are beaten mercilessly by the KKK, especially the latter
simply for being black. Truman then decides he’ll cut off Leonard’s genitals, as Hap is made to
watch it all. At that moment, Dt. Hanson and Bacon come around the corner — Hanson’s toting
a shotgun. Conveniently Sneed gets there, as well. A Mexican standoff in Grovetown. Suddenly,
Sneed turns his gun on Truman and tells him to leave.

Officer Reynolds is a dirty racist. She intercepts the location of Hap and Leonard for Truman.
This leaves our lads and their few friends in Grovetown a bunch of sitting ducks. Bacon’s doing
a fine job taking care of Hap and Leonard. Yet neither he, nor Sneed, nor either of our lads know
what’s headed for them.

In the meantime, a few interesting things. Hap’s beginning to finally, wholly resent all his
activism in the ’60s, seeing as how it, ultimately, did nothing. Either way his idealism is slipping
a bit. Then there’s Bacon’s realism. He knew all the hippy shit wasn’t going to create lasting
change. And Sneed — we discover his father killed a black man and went to prison where he
later died.

But again, more interruptions. The Klan’s back, and they’ve brought guns. Shots go off. Bacon
takes a bullet, though not a fatal one. Cantuck gets there and sends Truman’s boys scattering,
along with Charlie, too. Although it’s not entirely settled, at least Hap and Leonard are getting out
of Grovetown alive. The Chief promises to find Florida, which you can take with a grain of salt.
It doesn’t matter what Cantuck plans on doing, anyway. After everyone leaves, Officer Reynolds
puts a bullet through the Chief’s head.
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Actor Appearances

A
Adam Aalderks . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0106 (Campaign Guy)
Laura Allen . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

0303 (Officer Reynolds); 0304 (Officer Reynolds);
0305 (Officer Reynolds)

Ron Anglin. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1
0205 (Juggler Clown)

John L. Armijo . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0103 (State Trooper)

B
Charles Barber . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0101 (Police Officer)
Tony Bentley . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0103 (Chief of Police)
Corbin Bernsen . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4

0302 (Chief Cantuck); 0303 (Chief Cantuck); 0304
(Chief Canuck); 0305 (Chief Cantuck)

Alicia Beshears . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1
0201 (Carnival Teen)

Carey Bowers. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1
0106 (Minister)

Lionel Boyce . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4
0302 (Leon); 0303 (Leon); 0304 (Leon); 0305 (Leon)

Dwayne Boyd. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1
0206 (Clayton)

Jesse C. Boyd . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
0301 (Boone); 0302 (Boone); 0303 (Boone); 0304

(Boone); 0305 (Boone)
Robert Walker Branchaud . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0104 (Cop 1)
Enisha Brewster . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0203 (Daisy)
Devin Bright . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0303 (Boy 2)
Precious Bright. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0202 (Mother 1)
Sam Bullington. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0302 (Billy)

C
Wes Cannon . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

0101 (Guard); 0104 (Guard)
Raphael Dante’ Carr Jr. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0205 (Church Kid / Bus Kid)
Scott Chauvin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0101 (Corrections Officer Aguilar)
Trace Cheramie . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0101 (Softboy McCall)
Artrial Clark . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0101 (Scumbag Neighbor #1)
Andrew Dice Clay . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

0301 (Sonny Knox); 0302 (Sonny Knox); 0303 (Sonny
Knox (voice)); 0304 (Sonny Knox); 0305 (Sonny
Knox)

Kendall Cloud . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4
0202 (BB); 0204 (BB); 0205 (BB); 0206 (BB)

Chris Codding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0301 (Townsman / Parent)

Dedric Dec Colbert . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .3
0301 (Clinton); 0302 (Clinton); 0303 (Clinton)

William Colquitt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0204 (Coroner)

Lisa Comeaux . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0102 (Shopper)

Luray Cooper . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1
0303 (Vietnam Leonard)

Breana Cymone . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2
0203 (Breechelle); 0204 (Breechelle)

D
Kylen Davis. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0102 (Henry)
Danielle Deadwyler . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0303 (Woman)
Deja Dee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

0201 (Miriam); 0202 (Miriam); 0203 (Miriam); 0204
(Miriam); 0205 (Miriam); 0206 (Miriam)

Wayne Dehart . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3
0202 (Illium Moon); 0203 (Illium Moon); 0204 (Il-

lium Moon)
Micheal K. Douglas . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

0101 (Prisoner); 0102 (Scumbag Neighbor)
Adam Drescher. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2

0204 (Boss Man); 0205 (Boss Man)

E
Theodis Ealey . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0204 (Bobby Joe Soothe)
Luke Eikens . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0202 (Bailiff)
Atkins Estimond . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0301 (Cletus Carter III)
James W. Evermore. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2

0101 (Rough Customer); 0102 (Rough Customer)

F
Matty Ferraro. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0105 (Roy)
Barry Fisher . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0102 (Shopper)

G
Evan Gamble . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9
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0201 (Sneed); 0202 (Sneed); 0203 (Sneed); 0204
(Sneed); 0205 (Sneed); 0206 (Sneed); 0302 (Sneed);
0304 (Sneed); 0305 (Sneed)

Brent Moorer Gaskins . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0301 (Swing Dancer)

Emelita T. Gonzalez . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0201 (Carnival Goer)

Louis Gossett Jr. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
0301 (Bacon); 0302 (Bacon); 0303 (Bacon); 0304

(Bacon); 0305 (Bacon)
Monique Grant . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0202 (Mother 3)
Douglas M. Griffin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7

0201 (Charlie Blank); 0202 (Charlie Blank); 0204
(Charlie Blank); 0205 (Charlie Blank); 0206
(Charlie Blank); 0302 (Charlie Blank); 0303
(Charlie Blank)

H
Irma P. Hall. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0203 (Meemaw)
Curtis Harding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0302 (L.C. Soothe)
Alex Hargett . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0302 (Townsfolk)
Owen Harn . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

0205 (Brick); 0206 (Brick)
Ava Haygood. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0203 (Jezebel)
Pat Healy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

0303 (Truman Brown); 0304 (Truman Brown); 0305
(Truman Brown)

John Henry. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1
0105 (Leonard’s Dad)

Theresa Hightower . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0303 (The Next Whitney)

Michael Francis Horn. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1
0106 (Lyle Otis)

Kandace Howard . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2
0201 (Carnival Goer); 0205 (Carnival Goer)

Khyeer Hughes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0302 (Son of Detective Hanson)

J
LaQuita James . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0303 (Woman 2)
Adrienne Johnson. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0204 (Featured Church Lady)
Jay DeVon Johnson. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0206 (Dad)
Sally Jubb . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0102 (Shopper)
Bryan Justin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0303 (Florida’s Date)

K
Kenneth Israel. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0204 (Marcus)
Shirlene King . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0204 (Stella Goodhart)
Jason Kirkpatrick . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0101 (Walking Boss)
Michael Krikorian . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0105 (Shucker)
Aleia Kristene . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0301 (Neighbor)
Garrett Kruithof . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0101 (White Cop)

L
Dakota James Alden Lane. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0302 (Cowboy)
Kasey Lansdale. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0205 (Country Singer Girl)
Evelyn LeTeshia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0204 (Church Lady One)
Katherine Leroy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

0203 (Dawnisha); 0204 (Dawnisha)
Kaden Washington Lewis . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

0102 (Little Leonard); 0106 (Little Leonard); 0202
(Little Leonard); 0204 (Young Leonard); 0205
(Young Leonard)

Nicholas Logan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
0301 (Grady); 0302 (Grady); 0303 (Grady); 0304

(Grady); 0305 (Grady)

M
Mino Mackic. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0101 (Prisoner)
Trace Masters . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

0101 (Little Hap); 0102 (Little Hap); 0105 (Little
Hap); 0106 (Little Hap); 0204 (Young Hap);
0205 (Young Hap)

Gail Matthius. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .3
0202 (Officer Peg); 0204 (Officer Peg); 0205 (Officer

Peg)
John McConnell . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2

0103 (Beau Otis); 0106 (Young Beau Otis)
Jane McNeill. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .4

0302 (Maude); 0303 (Maude); 0304 (Maude); 0305
(Maude)

Romen L. McPherson . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2
0303 (Cleavon); 0304 (Cleavon)

Brenda Melton . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0202 (Mother Six)

Mike R. Moreau . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2
0101 (Police Officer); 0103 (Texas State Trooper /

Precision Driver)
Bonnie Morgan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0205 (Judy Punch)
Cullen Moss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4

0302 (Tim Garner); 0303 (Tim Garner); 0304 (Tim
Garner); 0305 (Tim Garner)

Enrique Murciano. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .5
0102 (Raoul); 0103 (Raoul); 0106 (Raoul); 0202 (Raoul);

0206 (Raoul)

N
Gennaro Napolitano. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .4

0301 (Meltons Crew Member); 0302 (Meltons Crew
Member); 0304 (Meltons Crew Member); 0305
(Meltons Crew Member)

Ann Nesby . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0303 (Blind Tillie)

A’cire Newby. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1
0202 (Mother 4)

Daniel Norris . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0305 (Big Ol Boy)

O
Mike Ortiz . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0101 (Inmate)

42
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P
Michael Papajohn . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0104 (Cop 2)
Valerie Payton . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

0203 (Leelanee); 0204 (Leelanee)
Shirlene King Pearson . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

0203 (Stella Goodhart); 0206 (Stella Goodhart)
Shanorris Pollock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0206 (Bunt)
Jeff Pope. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .4

0101 (Chub); 0102 (Chub); 0103 (Chub); 0104 (Chub)
Jay Potter. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2

0102 (Prescott Jones); 0103 (Prescott Jones)

R
Braelyn Rankins . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0303 (Boy)
William Cowboy Reed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

0201 (Sneeds Partner); 0202 (Sneeds Partner); 0203
(Sneeds Partner); 0204 (Sneeds Partner); 0205
(Sneeds Partner); 0206 (Sneeds Partner)

Ashani Roberts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1
0303 (Dream Florida)

Ron Roggé . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4
0101 (Bud); 0102 (Bud); 0105 (Bud); 0106 (Bud)

Taylor Roppolo . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0103 (Waitress)

Terence Rosemore. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1
0106 (Jack Divit)

S
Henry G. Sanders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

0101 (Uncle Chester); 0102 (Uncle Chester); 0106
(Uncle Chester); 0204 (Uncle Chester); 0205
(Uncle Chester); 0206 (Uncle Chester)

Neil Sandilands . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
0101 (Paco); 0102 (Paco); 0103 (Paco); 0104 (Paco);

0105 (Paco)
William Schaff . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0101 (Police Officer)
David Jay Schneider . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0304 (Young White Guy)
Kari Shemwell . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2

0101 (Trudy Double); 0106 (Trudy Double)
Shaquita Smith . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0203 (Stella’s Client)
Leander Suleiman.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0202 (Lucille)

T
Jonathan Tabler . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0106 (Senior Looking Officer)
Charlie Talbert . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

0101 (Officer Simpson); 0102 (Officer Simpson)
Bryant Tardy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0102 (Blue)
John Teal Jr. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

0101 (Police Officer); 0102 (Police Officer); 0103
(Police Officer)

Sedale Threatt Jr. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3
0201 (Melton); 0202 (Melton); 0203 (Melton)

Olaniyan Thurmon.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .6
0201 (Ivan); 0202 (Ivan); 0203 (Ivan); 0204 (Ivan);

0205 (Ivan); 0206 (Ivan)
Keisha Tillis . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0204 (Church Lady Two)

Ciera Tipton-Evans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0202 (Mother 5)

Shirley Tregre . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0102 (Cashier)

U
Naza Usher . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0204 (Alicia)

V
Danny Vinson . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0202 (State Prosecutor)

W
Pacey Liz Walker . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0202 (Mother 2)
Gwen Waymon .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

0203 (Turquoise); 0204 (Turquoise)
Sydney Wease . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

0301 (Belinda); 0302 (Belinda); 0303 (Belinda); 0304
(Belinda); 0305 (Belinda)

Tequilla Whitfield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0206 (Teenage Girl)

Bill Martin Williams. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1
0106 (Sheriff)

Gus Williams . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
0101 (Tank)

Legend Williams. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1
0203 (Boy)

Dolan Wilson . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4
0201 (Fernie Taint); 0203 (Fernie Taint); 0204 (Fer-

nie Taint); 0205 (Fernie Taint)
Bella Noelle Winkowski . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0302 (Snot Nose)

Y
Jesse Yarborough . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0102 (Marvel Creek Cop)
Don Yesso . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

0103 (Recruitment Officer)
Florence Young. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

0103 (Kay)
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